2016

**Kari L. Baumann, Plaintiff/Appellant, v. The Kroger Company Dba
Smith's Pharmacy #40063; And Gregory P. Tayler, m.d.,
Defendants/Appellees**

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The Utah Supreme Court has appellate jurisdiction over the opinion and judgment of the Utah Court of Appeals (attached as Addendumix A) pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78A-3-102(3)(a). The Utah Court of Appeals entered its opinion from which this appeal is taken on July 29, 2016. The Utah Court of Appeals had jurisdiction over the underlying appeal to the Court of Appeal from the District Court pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78A-4-103(2)(j).

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

A. Issues Presented

1. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in concluding that the District Court properly applied Rule 26(d)(4) of the Rules of Civil Procedure, rather than Rule 16(d), to its determination of the appropriate sanction for Appellant's failure to timely disclose expert testimony.

See *Baumann v. Kroger Co.*, 2016 UT App 165, ¶¶ 12, 18-21, 381 P.3d 1135; see also Rec. at 486 [15:1-18:3; 22:2-25; and 23:12-24:19] (Addendum B).
2. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in concluding that the District Court did not abuse its discretion in precluding Appellant from using an untimely expert report under Rule 26(d) to contest summary

judgment when it excluded the report based only on a finding that the failure to disclose was not justified.

See *Baumann v. Kroger Co.*, 2016 UT App 165, ¶ 18 n. 8, 381 P.3d 1135; see also Rec. at 486 [15:1-18:3; 22:2-25; and 23:12-24:19] (Addendum B).

B. Standard of Review

This Court reviews a court's decision whether to sanction a party under Rules 16(d) or 26(d)(4), as well as the selection of an appropriate sanction, for an abuse of discretion. *Coroles v. State*, 2015 UT 48, ¶ 20, 349 P.3d 739, 745, *Boice ex rel. Boice v. Marble*, 1999 UT 71, ¶ 8 & n. 3, 982 P.2d 565.

CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES, OR RULES

The following provisions are important to a proper resolution of this appeal:

A. Utah R. Civ. P. 16(d)

Rule 16(d) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure provides as follows:

If a party or a party's attorney fails to obey an order, if a party or a party's attorney fails to attend a conference, if a party or a party's attorney is substantially unprepared to participate in a conference, or if a party or a party's attorney fails to participate in good faith, the court, upon motion or its own initiative, may take any action authorized by Rule 37(e).

B. Utah R. Civ. P. 36(e)(2)(2014)

Rule 37(e)(2) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure previously provided, in pertinent part, as follows:¹

Unless the court finds that the failure was substantially justified, the court, upon motion, may impose appropriate sanctions for the failure to follow its orders, including the following:

(e)(2)(B) prohibit the disobedient party from supporting or opposing designated claims or defenses or from introducing designated matters into evidence;

(e)(2)(D) dismiss all or part of the action, strike all or part of the pleadings, or render judgment by default on all or part of the action;

C. Utah R. Civ. P. 26(d)(4)

Rule 26(d)(4) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure provides as follows:

If a party fails to disclose or to supplement timely a disclosure or response to discovery, that party may not use the undisclosed witness, document or material at any hearing or trial unless the failure is harmless or the party shows good cause for the failure.

D. Utah R. Civ. P. 37(h)(2014)

Rule 37(h) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure previously provided as follows:²

¹ Rule 36(e)(2) was renumbered on May 1, 2015 as Rule 37(b).

² On May 1, 2015, Rule 37 was renumbered and the wording of some of the permissible sanctions changed. The version of Rule 37 in effect prior to May 1, 2015 is quoted above. *See Coroles v. State*, 2015 UT 48, ¶ 19 n. 3, 349 P.3d 739.

(continued...)

If a party fails to disclose a witness, document or other material ... as required by Rule 26(d), that party shall not be permitted to use the witness, document or other material at any hearing unless the failure to disclose is harmless or the party shows good cause for the failure to disclose.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case, Course of Proceedings, and Disposition Below

This case is before the Court on a Petition for Certiorari to the Utah Court of Appeals filed pursuant to Rule 45 of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure. Ms. Baumann, through counsel, had previously filed a timely Notice of Appeal from the District Court's Order Granting Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment and Order of Final Judgment. Rec. at 524-520 (attached as Addendum B). The Utah Court of Appeals affirmed the District Court's grant of summary judgment in *Baumann v. Kroger Co.*, 2016 UT App 165, 381 P.3d 1135 (attached as Addendum A).

B. Statement of Facts

Background

This case involves Plaintiff-Appellant Kari Baumann, Defendant-Appellee The Kroger Company, doing business as Smith's Pharmacy #40063 ("Smith's Pharmacy" or "the Pharmacy"), and Defendant-Appellee Gregory P. Tayler, M.D.

²(...continued)

As noted above, the same language is now reflected in Rule 26(d)(4).

(“Dr. Tayler” or “the Doctor”), collectively, Defendants-Appellees. The case is a medical malpractice action alleging breaches by the Pharmacy and the Doctor of the standards of care and duty that it owed to Ms. Baumann in the prescription and dispensing of medications.

Allegations Against the Doctor

Ms. Baumann, through counsel, filed her Complaint in the District Court on February 27, 2013. The Complaint alleges that, from June 2004 through September 2006, Dr. Tayler prescribed two medications for the treatment of Ms. Baumann’s high blood pressure. Ms. Baumann filled the prescriptions at Smith’s Pharmacy. Ms. Baumann’s health insurer advised her by form letter to consult with her physician concerning a possible, less expensive alternative medication to one of the medications. Dr. Tayler renewed Ms. Baumann’s prescription for one of the original medications and then also the alternative medication, but without discontinuing the prior prescription. Both prescriptions were prescribed in the highest available dose. Rec. at 11-10, ¶¶ 13-21. Dr. Tayler admitted in his Answer that he had prescribed the original medication and then “inadvertently” prescribed the duplicative medication that tripled her dosage. Rec. at 42, ¶ 9.

The Complaint also alleges that the duplicative prescriptions caused a sudden and substantial change in Ms. Baumann’s anti-hypertensive regimen. Dr. Tayler also did not take Baumann’s blood pressure or perform any other examination of his

patient when deciding to renew her prescription for the original prescription or the alternative prescriptions; and did not do so until February 19, 2007, 15 days after Ms. Baumann suffered an acute anti-hypertensive event on February 4, 2007. Dr. Tayler did not inform Ms. Baumann that there were substantial and significant risks in simultaneously prescribing duplicative anti-hypertensive drugs for her or that there were substantial and significant risks in prescribing these drugs in these dosages for her without checking blood pressure or doing a physical exam. Rec. at 10-9, ¶¶ 22-26.

Allegations Against the Pharmacy

The Complaint further alleges that, on January 18, 2007, Ms. Baumann arrived in person at Smith's Pharmacy, where employees of The Kroger Company simultaneously filled Dr. Tayler's duplicative prescriptions for her. Smith's Pharmacy had actual knowledge that the alternative medication was a "new" medication for her, as confirmed by the receipt for her purchase. Smith's Pharmacy also instructed Ms. Baumann to take the duplicative medications just as prescribed by Dr. Tayler and failed to warn her that they were duplicative drugs or that there were any special risks associated with taking the duplicative drugs in the dosages prescribed. Rec. at 9-8, ¶¶ 26-29.

Ms. Baumann's Injuries Caused by the Over-Medication

Soon after Ms. Baumann began taking the duplicative prescriptions as prescribed by Dr. Tayler and as instructed by Smith's Pharmacy, she collapsed in an acute hypotensive event on February 4, 2007. She lost consciousness, lost motor control and lost bladder and bowel control. Ms. Baumann was immediately taken to the Emergency Room at Heber Valley Hospital. The assessment of the ER physician who discharged her from the ER was "hypotension due to over-medication." Rec. at 8, 30-34; see also *Kari L. Baumann v. Michael J. Astrue*, 2:12-CV-00713-EJF, Memorandum Decision and Order, 194 Soc. Sec. Rep. Service 468, 2013 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 142135, *4, 2013 WL 5435321 (D. Utah Sept. 30, 2013) at p. 3 (so finding).

Since her acute hypotensive event on February 4, 2007, Ms. Baumann has had persistent neurological impairments, including slurred speech, visual deficits, cognitive deficits and other physical impairments. On December 13, 2007, the Utah Department of Health entered its Final Agency Order, adopting the prior Recommended Decision of its Hearing Officer, who found that Ms. Baumann had been and was disabled within the meaning of 20 C.F.R. § 416.905 since the date of her acute hypotensive event on February 4, 2007. Rec. at 7, ¶¶ 35-36.

Causes of Actions Asserted Below

In her Complaint below, Ms. Baumann asserts a medical malpractice claim against Dr. Tayler for his alleged breach of the standard of care applicable to the prescription of medications; and a claim against Dr. Tayler based on his alleged failure to provide informed consent. Rec. at 7-5, ¶¶ 37-44.

Also in her Complaint below, Ms. Baumann asserts a malpractice claim against Smith's Pharmacy based on its alleged breach of the standard of care expected of licensed pharmacists; a claim against Smiths' Pharmacy that it violated Utah's Pharmacy Practice Act at § 58-17b-601(1)(a) and, in particular, Utah's Pharmacy Practice Act Rule R156-17b promulgated pursuant to the Act; and a claim against Smith's Pharmacy that it failed to comply with its undertaking of voluntarily-assumed duties and written assurance. Rec. at 5-2, ¶¶ 45-61.

The Proceedings in the District Court

The original Notice of Event Due Dates issued by the Court, reflecting the due dates set forth in Rule 26 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, was filed by the Court on June 19, 2013. Rec. at 44. Pursuant to a Stipulation for Additional Time to Conduct Standard Discovery filed with the Court on March 7, 2014, counsel for Defendants-Appellees and Ms. Baumann, who was proceeding *pro se* at the time, agreed that the deadline for fact discovery would be May 30, 2014, that Ms. Baumann's expert disclosures were due by June 6, 2015, and that expert

discovery would be completed by September 5, 2014. Rec. at 87-86; and 452-51, ¶ 1. Rec. at 87-86; see also Rec. at 451, ¶ 6. No certificate of readiness for trial was ever filed and no trial date was ever set. See Rec. at 44 and 87.

On September 11, 2014, Dr. Tayler and Smith's Pharmacy filed a Joint Motion for Summary Judgment and supporting Memorandum. Rec. at 97, 142. The sole argument raised by Dr. Taylor and the Pharmacy in their supporting Memorandum was that, because of the lack of an expert, Ms. Baumann could not establish the applicable standards of care, a breach of those standards, and that the breach was the proximate cause of the injuries to Ms. Baumann. Rec. at 139. On September 29, 2014, Ms. Baumann filed a Statement Opposing Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment. On October 8, 2014, Dr. Taylor and the Pharmacy filed a joint Reply in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment and a Request to Submit for Decision and Request for Oral Argument. The Court set oral argument for November 17, 2014. Rec. at 97, 142, 152, 158; see also Rec. at 451, ¶¶ 2-5

On October 10, 2014, Ms. Baumann filed a second Memorandum in opposition to the Motion for Summary Judgment filed by the Doctor and the Pharmacy. By way of that second Memorandum, Ms. Baumann sought to introduce, among other documents, a decision by the Social Security Administration ("SSA") concerning the issue whether she was disabled, a transcript of the hearing before the Administrative Law Judge in that proceeding that included expert testimony and

final decision of the SSA following a remand by the United States District Court for the District of Utah. See Rec. at 325-169. On November 4, 2014, the Doctor and the Pharmacy filed an additional Reply Memorandum and then, on November 7, 2014, an Amended Notice to Submit for Decision. Rec. at 346 and 350.

On November 12, 2014, five days before oral argument, Ms. Baumann provided counsel for the Doctor and the Pharmacy with an expert report and curriculum vitae applicable to the alleged breaches and failures by the Pharmacy. On November 15, 2014, Ms. Baumann also filed the same expert report in response to the Reply Memorandum filed by Defendants-Appellees and also a request to the Court to admit the report in response to their Motion for Summary Judgment. Ms. Baumann did not serve or file a separate expert report applicable to the alleged breaches and failures by Dr. Tayler. See Rec. at 451, ¶¶ 6-7; 383-81; and 380-351.

The Court first conducted oral argument on the Motion for Summary Judgment on November 17, 2014. During the proceeding, Ms. Baumann sought permission from the Court to allow her husband to speak for her in light of her cognitive disabilities that include difficulty communicating, staying focused, staying on task and other issues. Counsel for Defendants-Appellees objected, the Court declined Ms. Baumann's request because her husband was not a licensed attorney, and the Court permitted her to retain counsel to represent her. Rec. at 519 [4:24-6:8] (transcript attached as Addendum E). The Court also ordered that any materials filed

after October 8, 2014 (the date of the first Notice to Submit) would not be considered by the Court in deciding the Motion for Summary Judgment filed by Defendants-Appellees and that Ms. Baumann could have until January 5, 2015 to retain counsel. Rec. at 519 [8:17-9:16; 15:4-11; 10:7-11:18; and 19:6-11] (transcript attached as Addendum E). A written Order reflecting these decisions was then approved and entered by the Court on December 22, 2014. In that Order, the Court states that it would not consider any documents served or filed after October 8, 2014. Rec. at 401-400 (Order attached as Addendum D); see also Rec. at 450, ¶¶ 8-9.

The Court held the second hearing on the Motion for Summary Judgment filed by the Doctor and the Pharmacy on January 5, 2015. Ms. Baumann continued to represent herself *pro se*. During oral argument, Ms. Baumann argued, among other points, that the Court should decide summary judgment based on the record that she had submitted, the decision of the SSA, and the report of the expert witness that she had filed and served, not based on a procedural error on her part. Ms. Baumann also made clear that her failure to disclose an expert and then her untimely disclosure of an expert were not intentional. See Rec. at 486 [15:1-18:3 and 22:2-25] (transcript attached as Addendum C).

The Decision of the District Court

At the close of that second hearing, the District Court granted summary judgment in favor of Dr. Tayler and Smith's Pharmacy. The District Court concluded that Ms. Baumann "failed to make expert disclosures as required by the Stipulation for Additional Time to Conduct Standard Discovery and Rule 26 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure and that there is no good cause for Plaintiff's failure to make expert disclosures." Rec. 5238. Applying Rule 26(d)(4) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, the Court concluded that Ms. Baumann was precluded from using any undisclosed report.³ The Court further determined that Ms. Baumann's claims were based on standards of care and issues of proximate causation that were not within the common knowledge of laypersons. Therefore, the Court concluded, Ms. Baumann was unable to establish a *prima facie* case that the standards of care were breached or that any breach proximately caused injury to her. Rec. at 528-27 (decision attached as Addendum B); see also Rec. at 486 [23:12-24:19] (transcript attached as Addendum C).

The Decision of the Court of Appeals

The Court of Appeals affirmed the decision of the District Court, concluding that the District Court properly applied the standard enunciated in Rule 26(d) of the

³ The District Court did not mention Rule 16(d) and made no finding whether the failure to disclose the expert report by the deadline set forth in the Stipulation was harmless.

Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. In so doing, the Court of Appeals rejected Ms. Baumann’s argument that the permissive and more lenient standard set forth in Rule 16 rather than the mandatory standard set forth in Rule 26 should apply. Ms. Baumann had argued that, under the Utah Supreme Court’s decision in *Coroles v. State*, 20156 UT 48, 349 P.3d 739, the appropriate source of the District Court’s authority to sanction her for producing an untimely expert report under the Stipulation, adopted by the District Court as the basis of its decision, is Rule 16(d), not Rule 26(d). *Baumann v. Kroger Co.*, 2016 UT App 165, ¶ 12, 381 P.3d 1135.

In reaching this conclusion, the Court of Appeals applied the reasoning of its decision in *Sleepy Holdings LLC v. Mountain West Title*, 2016 UT App 62, 370 P.3d 963, which addressed a failure to serve initial disclosures under Rule 26(a)(1). *Bauman v. The Kroger Co.*, 2016 UT App 165, ¶¶ 18-19, 381 P.3d 1135. In *Sleepy Holdings*, the appellant argued that the district court abused its discretion when it excluded evidence under Rule 26 and that it should instead have applied the discretionary sanctions found in Rule 16(d). *Id.* ¶ 19. In *Sleepy Holdings*, the Court of Appeals explained that Rule 16 “governs pretrial conferences, scheduling, and management conferences,” *id.* ¶ 20, whereas [R]ule 26 “governs initial disclosures and discovery,” *id.* ¶ 21. The Court of Appeals declined to apply *Coroles*, as the appellant had urged, because, the Court decided, *Coroles* does not interpret or even mention Rule 26 and because Rule 26 properly authorized sanctions for the failure

to disclose. *Id.* ¶ 23. Therefore, the Court of Appeals concluded in the instant case, the District Court properly treated Ms. Baumann’s failure to timely disclose an expert report under the parties’ Stipulation not as a failure to make a timely disclosure under a scheduling order but as a failure to disclose. *Baumann v. Kroger Co.*, 2016 UT App 165, ¶¶ 18-21, 381 P.3d 1135.

The Court of Appeals also rejected Ms. Baumann’s argument that, in addition to making a finding of no good cause, the District Court was also required to make a finding of harmlessness. The Court of Appeals stated that “a district court’s exclusion of materials may be supported if the court makes a finding that there is either no good cause for the failure or that the failure is harmful.” *Baumann v. Kroger Co.*, 2016 UT App 165, ¶ 18 n. 8, 381 P.3d 1135 (citing Utah R. Civ. P. 26(d)(4) and *Constr. Co. v. Robbins*, 2009 UT 52, ¶ 35, 215 P.3d 933). The Court of Appeals thus interpreted Rule 26(d)(4) to permit a district court to exclude evidence based on a finding by the court of either prong of the two-part test set forth in the Rule.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This Court should vacate the decision of the Court of Appeals, vacate the judgment entered by the District Court, and remand this case to the District Court with instructions to the District Court consistent with this Court’s opinion. The Court of Appeals’ decision affirming the District Court’s application of

Rule 26(d)(4) to exclude an expert report that was untimely under a Stipulation adopted by the Court as the source of the applicable deadline conflicts with this Court's decision in *Coroles*. Moreover, even if Rule 26(d)(4) were the proper source for imposition of sanctions in the situation presented here, the Court of Appeals' interpretation of Rule 26(d)(4) to require only a showing of a lack of justification conflicts with the plain language of Rule 26(d)(4) requiring exclusion "unless the failure is harmless or the party shows substantial justification."

ARGUMENT

I. THE COURT OF APPEALS ERRED IN CONCLUDING THAT THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY APPLIED RULE 26(d)(4) OF THE RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE, RATHER THAN RULE 16(d), TO ITS DETERMINATION OF THE APPROPRIATE SANCTION FOR MS. BAUMANN'S FAILURE TO TIMELY DISCLOSE HER EXPERT REPORT.

The decision of the Court of Appeals – applying Rule 26(d) rather than Rule 16(d) to exclude an expert report that was untimely under a stipulation adopted by the court – conflicts with this Court's decision in *Coroles v. State*, 2015 UT 48, 349 P.3d 739. In *Coroles*, this Court made clear that the more lenient standard set forth in Rule 16(d), not the stricter standard set forth in Rule 37(h), applies when, as here, a party produces untimely discovery under a scheduling order. 2015 UT 48, ¶ 20. Specifically, the Court held that Rule 16(d) is the source of a district court's authority to sanction a party for producing untimely discovery under a scheduling

order. *Coroles*, 2015 UT 48, ¶ 20 (citing *Boice ex rel. Boice v. Marble*, 1999 UT 71, ¶ 8 & n. 3, 982 P.2d 565 and *Arnold v. Curtis*, 846 P.2d 1307, 1309-10 (Utah 1993)).

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