### **Brigham Young University Law School**

# **BYU Law Digital Commons**

Utah Supreme Court Briefs (2000-)

2017

Kari L. Baumann, Plaintiff/ Appel Lant, vs. The Kroger Company Dba Smith's Pharmacy #40063; And Gregory P. Tayler, m.d., Defendants/ Appellees.

**Utah Supreme Court**

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

### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

This Court should affirm the Court of Appeals which found that the district court did not abuse its discretion and justifiably granted summary judgment in favor of Smith's

Pharmacy. Ms. Baumann failed to preserve for appeal the issue of whether the district court abused its discretion; the district court never excluded an expert inasmuch as none had ever properly existed.

(

(

The URCP sustain the district court's reasonable and proper use of discretion after the expiration of all discovery to close the pleadings on and grant summary judgment. The comparison of *Coroles* to Baumann is inapposite because in Ms. Baumann's case by the time she attempted to improperly file a report, without leave, expert discovery and the summary judgment briefings and filings had already closed. The principles in *Sleepy Holdings v. Mountain West* apply as do Rules 26(a) and Rule 26(d).

The decision of the SSA is irrelevant to the issue presented by Smith's Pharmacy and Dr. Tayler's joint motion for summary judgment. A decision by the SSA determining the existence of disability does not review the standards of care related to a pharmacy, whether a breach occurred, and whether a claimant's disability was proximately caused by a breach. A decision of the SSA does not provide the expert information required to be disclosed by Rule 26(a) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure.

Ms. Baumann's pro se representation has no impact on this appeal. While a self-represented party is entitled to every consideration that may reasonably be indulged, a party who represents herself will be held to the same standard of knowledge and practice as any qualified member of the bar.

The district court did not abuse its discretion in its application of Rules 7, 56, and 26(d). There is more than a sufficient evidentiary basis in the record of how the district court governed this case, discovery, and briefing on summary judgment to conclude that the district court's application of the rules of procedure was not abusive at all, let alone clearly abusive. The Utah Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the district court. This Court should affirm.

### **ARGUMENT**

I. MS. BAUMANN FAILED TO PRESERVE FOR APPEAL THE ISSUE OF WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION BY NOT CONSIDERING BELATEDLY FILED EXPERT REPORT FILED AFTER CLOSE OF ALL DISCOVERY AND BRIEFING.

As a general matter, "to preserve an issue for appeal, the party asserting error must (1) specifically raise the issue; (2) 'in a timely manner;' and (3) support the claim with 'evidence and relevant legal authority.'"<sup>3</sup> In other words, an issue is preserved for appeal when it has been "presented to the district court in such a way that the court has an *opportunity* to rule on [it]."<sup>4</sup> This standard applies unless there are exceptional circumstances or plain error.<sup>5</sup> "The exceptional-circumstances doctrine 'is a concept

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Salt Lake City Corp. v. Restoration Network, 2012 UT 84, ¶ 26, 299 P.3d 990 (quoting Donjuan v. McDermott, 2011 UT 72, ¶ 20, 266 P.2d 839).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> J.M.W. v. T.I.Z. (In Re Adoption of Baby E.Z.), 2011 UT 38, ¶ 25, 266 P.3d 702 (internal quotation marks omitted)(emphasis added).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> *Id*. (citation omitted).

that is used sparingly, and [is] properly reserved for truly exceptional situations, for cases ... involving rare procedural anomalies.'"<sup>6</sup> Further, the exceptional-circumstances doctrine is reserved for "the most unusual circumstances where [the] failure to consider an issue that was not properly preserved for appeal would [] result[] in manifest injustice."<sup>7</sup> The plain error exception requires that a party demonstrate "that (i) an error exists; (ii) the error should have been obvious to the trial court; and (iii) the error is harmful, i.e., absent the error, there is a reasonable likelihood of a more favorable outcome."<sup>8</sup> Finally, the Utah Supreme Court has clarified:

**(** 

**@** 

(

(

(s

**(** 

(

Our preservation rule promotes both judicial economy and fairness. The rule furthers judicial economy by giving the district court an opportunity to address the claimed error, and if appropriate, correct it prior to an appeal. Next, it encourages fairness by giving an opposing party an opportunity to address the alleged error in the district court. Similarly, the rule prevents a party from avoiding an issue at trial for strategic reasons only to raise the issue on appeal if the strategy fails.

Rule 24(a)(5) of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure complements the preservation rule. It requires an appellant's brief to provide "a statement of the issues presented for review" and a "citation to the record showing that [an] issue

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> State v. Isom, 2015 UT App 160, ¶ 19, 789 Utah Adv. Rep. 21 (quoting State v. Kozlov, 2012 UT App 114, ¶ 35, 276 P.3d 1207 (omission in original) (citation and internal quotation marks omitted)).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> *Id.* (quoting *State v. Nelson-Waggoner*, 2004 UT 29, ¶ 23, 94 P.3d 186.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Meadow Valley Contrs., Inc. v. State DOT, 2011 UT 35, ¶ 17, 266 P.3d 671 (internal quotation marks and citation omitted).

was preserved in the [district] court." However, in the case of appellant who appears pro se, we retain discretion to address issues raised that do not strictly comply with the requirements of Rule 24.9

Finally, Rule 24(a)(5)(B) requires that a party provide a statement of grounds for seeking review of an issue not preserved in the district court.

In this case, the issues Ms. Baumann seeks review of on appeal with regard to her claims against Smith's Pharmacy are whether "the Court of Appeals erred in concluding that the District Court properly applied Rule 26(d)(4) of the Rules of Civil Procedure, rather than Rule 16(d), to its determination of the appropriate sanction for Appellant's failure to timely disclose expert testimony," and whether "the Court of Appeals erred in concluding the District Court did not abuse its discretion in precluding Appellant from using an untimely expert report under Rule 26(d) to contest summary judgment when it excluded the report based only on a finding that the failure to disclose was not justified". However, Ms. Baumann, does not provide adequate citation to the record showing that these issues, as stated, were preserved in the district court--in a timely manner, with evidence and legal authority, and presented to the court in a way the district court had

**@** 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> On appeal, Ms. Baumann is represented by an attorney. Therefore, the discretion retained to an appellate court regarding a pro se appellant's compliance with Rule 24 of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure does not exist in this case.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Aplt's Br., pp. 1 - 2.

an opportunity to rule on it. Ms. Baumann also fails to set forth a statement of grounds for seeking review of the unpreserved issues. Ms. Baumann's Brief admits on the one hand that she was over five months (June 2014 to November 2014) late in filing a first ever "expert report ... applicable to the alleged breaches and failures by the Pharmacy," on the eve of "oral argument" 11, i.e., well after the close of the briefing allowed by the district court, but Ms. Baumann then attempts on the other hand to assert, without having preserved the issue, that the district court's "excluding the untimely expert report ... would ... be an abuse of discretion" and that the District Court applied Rule 26(d)(4) but should have applied Rule 16(d) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. 12 Ms. Baumann asserts that Coroles v. State, 349 P.3d 739 (Utah 2015), applies to Ms. Baumann's situation and that thus "the District Court committed reversible error when it excluded the untimely expert witness report submitted by Ms. Baumann", that "excluding the untimely expert report ... would ... be an abuse of discretion", and that accordingly "this Court should reverse the District Court's exclusion of the untimely expert report submitted by Ms. Baumann."13

Ð

(

6

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> *Id*. at 10.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> *Id.* at 15 & 18 (emphasis added).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Id. at 18 (emphasis added).

Ms. Baumann failed to preserve for appeal the issue of excluding an expert. The District Court never considered any experts, or requests for leave to file expert reports by Ms. Baumann, because fact and expert discovery had fully closed, the joint motion for summary judgment was before the district court, and all the briefing on the motion had closed on October 8, 2014. There was never a timely or permitted expert designation, expert report, or request for leave to designate late experts or file late expert reports for the District Court to have stricken or excluded.

In deciding summary judgment, the District Court did not exclude any expert report. The summary judgment was fully briefed and ready for oral argument before there was ever any indication of any expert report, and leave was never sought to submit an expert report before briefing was closed. Ms. Baumann's attempt now on appeal to argue an issue that Ms. Baumann never preserved—i.e., that the district court somehow excluded a report— is contrary to the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure. Rule 24(a)(5)(A) of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure required Ms. Baumann to have made "citation to the record showing that the issue was preserved in the trial court." Ms. Baumann did not, and could not, make such a citation. Such a citation is not feasible because the district court never ruled on, or made an order, excluding Plaintiff's first ever expert report which was filed not just extremely late but after the summary judgment motion briefings had been closed by the court on October 8, 2014. Besides scheduling orders, the only rulings

and Orders entered by the district court were: 1) to cap the briefing and filings pertinent to the Defendants' joint motion for summary judgment pursuant to the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure (viz., motion/memorandum, opposition, and reply/request to submit), and 2) to grant summary judgment and order dismissal with prejudice. Therefore, the only preserved issue for appeal is Defendants' joint motion for summary judgment.

**(** 

65

In stark contrast to Ms. Baumann's case, the issue reviewed in Coroles was a trial court's striking two separate sets of experts. That trial court struck the first set of experts who had been designated on time according to the scheduling order. That trial court also struck a second replacement set filed after the designation date but before expert discovery expired. Because experts (all filed before designation or expert cutoff) no longer existed, the trial court considered and granted summary judgment and dismissed the plaintiff's medical malpractice claim. Coroles, 349 P.3d at 741. The Coroles scenario was significantly different than Ms. Baumann's situation in which the district court did not strike any expert for there was never any trace of an expert until after the expert designation deadline, the expert discovery cutoff, and the briefing on summary judgment had all expired. In Coroles, the trial court struck the plaintiff's experts disclosed before expert cutoff, and then summary judgment was considered and granted. Yet in Ms. Baumann's case, the trial court considered all timely documents filed for summary judgment and granted the motion, the issue of leave to file late experts having never

arisen at summary judgment and having never become an appealable issue. Only after all summary judgment briefing was completed did Ms. Baumann make attempt to file an expert report. No striking of experts occurred in Ms. Baumann's case at the district court level, and thus no preservation of such an issue has occurred for the appellate courts.

Ms. Baumann also cites Welsh v. Hospital Corp. of Utah, 2010 UT App 171, ¶ 10, 235 P.3d 791, for the proposition that "excluding a witness from testifying is ... extreme in nature and ... should be employed only with caution and restraint" and for the suggestion that it may be an abuse of discretion for the trial court to exclude an expert report if, under the circumstances, justice and fairness require that the court allow a party to designate witnesses after the court-imposed deadline for doing so has expired.<sup>14</sup> However, the issue reviewed in Welsh was a trial court's denial of a Motion for Enlargement of Time to designate expert witnesses and submit expert reports. 15 Again, the record in this case is devoid of any request made by Ms. Baumann, prior to completion of the summary judgment briefing, to the district court for an enlargement of time to allow her to submit expert reports related to her claims against either Dr. Tayler or Smith's Pharmacy. A request made by Ms. Baumann to the district court to consider expert reports was filed on December 15, 2014—well over six months after Ms. Baumann's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Aplt's Br., p. 19.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> 2010 UT App 171, ¶ 1.

expert designations were due (June 6, 2014) and well over two months subsequent to the deadline (October 8, 2014) the district court had closed all briefing and filings on the Defendants' joint motion for summary judgment. But Ms. Baumann's request was nonetheless moot under the district court's previous November 17, 2014 rulings and orders. The issue Ms. Baumann seeks review of on appeal was simply not preserved inasmuch as there never was any exclusion of experts.

**(** 

**(** 

6

Finally, Ms. Baumann's appellate brief does not contain supported or persuasive argument related to whether exceptional circumstances or plain error exist showing that this unpreserved issue should be reviewed on appeal. Consequently, to the extent that Ms. Baumann desires review of an unpreserved issue, her brief is inadequate pursuant to Rule 24(a)(9) of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure because it does not contain supportable or convincing contentions or developed reasoning, with citation to authorities, statutes, and parts of the record, showing that the unpreserved issue should be reviewed on appeal.<sup>17</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> R.395-391.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> Isom, 2015 UT App 160, ¶ 17, confirms that Rule 24(a)(9) requires an appellant's brief to "contain the contentions and reasons of the appellant with respect to the issues presented, ... with citation to the authorities statutes, and parts of the record relied on." The Isom opinion, further directs that "[b]riefs require not just bald citation to authority but development of that authority and reasoned analysis based on that authority" and that "[a]n issue is inadequately briefed when the overall analysis of the issue is so lacking as to shift the burden of research and argument to the reviewing court." Id.

The February 19, 2016 Utah Court of Appeals opinion of *Robinson v. Jones Waldo* provides additional guidance. *Robinson v. Jones Waldo*, 369 P.3d 119 (Utah Ct. App. 2016)(affirming the defendant's motion for summary judgment against a pro se plaintiff). Under the principles of *Robinson*, Ms. Baumann's pro se status did not excuse her from making adequate or timely expert designations or reports, or from being held to "the same standard of knowledge and practice as any qualified member of the bar." *Id.* at 127. Also, as in *Robinson*, Ms. Baumann "did not present to the district court the arguments [she] now raises on appeal. Because [Baumann] did not present [her] claims in such a way that the court could rule on them, they are not preserved. Because the challenges are unpreserved, [the appellate court] deemed them waived." *Id.* Ms. Baumann's attempt to assert the district court struck experts should be deemed waived, and the district court and Court of Appeals should thus be affirmed.

<sup>(</sup>quotation marks and citations omitted). Finally, *Isom* affirms that "'[i]t is well settled that issues raised by an appellant in the reply brief that were not presented in the opening brief are considered waived and will not be considered by the appellate court." *Id.* ¶ 16 (quoting *Allen v. Friel*, 2008 UT 56, ¶ 8, 194 P.3d 903).

II. RULES 7, 56, 16, 37, AND 26 OF THE URCP SUSTAIN THE DISTRICT COURT'S DECISIONS AND USE OF DISCRETION, *SLEEPY HOLDINGS* IS APPLICABLE, AND *COROLES*<sup>18</sup> IS INNAPLICABLE BECAUSE EXPIRATION OF DISCOVERY AND SUMMARY JUDGMENT BRIEFING PRECEDED ANY ATTEMPT BY MS. BAUMANN TO DESIGNATE A LATE EXPERT WITHOUT LEAVE OR ANY ATTEMPT TO REQUEST LEAVE FOR BELATED EXPERTS.

ن

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